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ABSTRACT 
 
 
The objective of this thesis is to identify, isolate, and expound the concepts of sacred 

space and its ancillary doctrines and to show how they were expressed in ancient 

temple architecture and ritual. 

 

The fundamental concept of sacred space defined the nature of the holiness that 

pervaded the temple. The idea of sacred space included the ancient view of the temple 

as a mountain. Other subsets of the basic notion of sacred space include the role of the 

creation story in temple ritual, its status as an image of a heavenly temple and its 

location on the axis mundi, the temple as the site of the hieros gamos, the substantial 

role of the temple regarding kingship and coronation rites, the temple as a symbol of the 

Tree of Life, and the role played by water as a symbol of physical and spiritual blessings 

streaming forth from the temple. Temple ritual, architecture, and construction techniques 

expressed these concepts in various ways. These expressions, identified in the literary 

and archaeological records, were surprisingly consistent throughout the ancient Near 

East across large expanses of space and time. 

 

Under the general heading of Techniques of Construction and Decoration, this thesis 

examines the concept of the primordial mound and its application in temple architecture, 

the practice of foundation deposits, the purposes and functions of enclosure walls, 

principles of orientation, alignment, and measurement, and interior decorations. Under 

the rubric of General Temple Arrangement are explored the issues of the tripartite and 

other temple floor plans, the curious institution of the ziggurat, the meaning of temple 

pillars, the presence of sacred groves and the idea of the Tree of Life, and temple/palace 

symbiosis. The category Arrangement of Cultic Areas and Ritual Paraphernalia deals 

with areas such as elevated statues of the deity in the innermost sanctuary, sources of 

water for ablutions, the temple as a site for a cult of the dead, and altars and animal 

sacrifice. 

 

The concept of sacred space and its ancillary ideologies provided underlying justification 

and support for all the peculiar distinctions that characterised temple architecture in the 

ancient Near East. 
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springs, or large outcroppings of rock, were known and recognised; was it possible to 

artificially create sacred space where natural sacred space did not exist, and if so, were 

there specific architectural strategies that could be employed to this end? How could a 

nebulous and rather esoteric notion such as sacred space be expressed in temple 

mythology, ideology, construction, architecture, and ritual? Finally, were these 

expressions limited to a given area or were they consistent across the entire ancient Near 

East? 

 

1.2 HYPOTHESIS 

 

The central hypothesis of this thesis is based upon the preliminary identification, 

isolation, and exposition of the concepts of sacred space and its ancillary doctrines,2  and 

to then determine how they were expressed in ancient temple architecture and ritual. In 

the ancient Near East, temples were constructed by the thousands. Some were simple, 

one-room affairs; others were monumental complexes. It is here postulated that the 

concept of sacred space, and the need to create areas of sacred space wherein rituals 

could be employed to recreate sacred time, were of sufficient compulsion in ancient 

societies to justify the expenditure of almost incomprehensible amounts of resources and 

labour in the construction, operation, and maintenance of these edifices. If the concept of 

sacred space was indeed the underlying essence of the temple, then it should have been 

depicted, perhaps figuratively, in liturgy and ritual, but in a solid and physical manner in 

the very architecture of these buildings. Architectural expressions of sacred space should 

be describable, quantifiable, and subject to organisation into categories. It should also be 

possible to trace these expressions, not only within individual civilisations, but across the 

entire Near East. 

 

1.3 SOURCES 

 

To review all of the pertinent academic literature regarding sacred space and temples in 

                                                 
2 Whether these concepts were deeply embedded within the collective unconscious of antiquity or dispersed 
throughout the ancient world from a single prototypical temple whose genesis lay in the very moment of 
creation itself, is an argument that will need to be addressed elsewhere. 
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1.3.2.2 Egypt.6  Primary sources consulted include the following excavation reports and 

journal articles. For Abydos: Baines (1984), Gardiner (1933), Naville (1914), and Petrie 

(1902). For Elephantine: Hammerschaimb (1957), Kenney-Herbert (1938), Kraeling 

(1952), Neugebauer (1942), Porten (1961), Rosenberg (2004), J. M. P. Smith (1908), 

Sprengling (1917-1918), and Torrey (1954). For Hierakonpolis: Fairservis (1971-1972), 

Garstang (1907), Lansing (1935b), and Weinstein (1971-1972). For Thebes: Davies 

(1923), Holscher (1932), Lansing (1935a), Petrie (1897), Winlock (1914; 1920-1924; 

1926; 1928; 1930; 1932); for other temple-related themes from Theban archaeology, see 

Bell (1997), Blackman (1923), and Murnane (1979). For Amarna: Peet (1921), 

Pendlebury (1934), and Uphill (1970). For Edfu: Blackman & Fairman (1946), Fairman 

(1935), and Griffiths (1958). 

 

For a foundation in Egyptian religion and religious practice, this study relied heavily on 

the works of Blackman as compiled, edited, and published by Lloyd (1998); this 

collection is a priceless boon to students of Egyptology. Other significant works 

produced by Egyptologists of the mid-twentieth century include Fairman (1954) and 

Frankfort (1951; 1978).  

 

Reymond (1969) was of primary value in this thesis through its meticulous description of 

the Egyptian cosmogony as depicted on the walls of the temple at Edfu. MacRae (1984) 

did groundbreaking work in his studies on the New Testament, Gnosticism, and the texts 

discovered in the mid-1940s at Nag Hammadi. Also worthy of mention is Wilkinson 

(2000; 2003); these two books on ancient Egyptian temples and the gods worshipped 

therein are beautifully illustrated and contain a prodigious amount of valuable 

information. Also useful in the preparation of the present work were Arnold (1999; 

2003); Badawy (1966a; 1966b; 1968; 1990), Baines (1995), and Shafer (ed, 1997a). 

1.3.2.3 Anatolia. Primary sources, mainly excavation reports and articles in academic 

journals, included the following: Bittel (1976; 1981), Guterbock (1975), Haas & Wafler 

                                                 
6 General historical works consulted include Breasted (1964), Grimal (1992), Kees (1961), Kemp (1989), 
Manchip White (1970), Shaw (2002), and Silverman (ed, 1997). 
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this pathway will allow the use of the supplementary information supplied by the 

archaeological record to substantiate (and occasionally correct) the mythological 

underpinnings of the concepts under examination. The comparative method will be 

adopted here due to the enormous quantity of available information spanning the 

geographical area from Mesopotamia through the Fertile Crescent and the Anatolian 

Plateau down through the valley of the Nile, and covering a time span of over three 

millennia. Finally, the results achieved through a comparative scheme will be further 

refined using a consistent sub-methodology based on an amalgamation of historical 

archaeology and  phenomenology. The latter is based on the premise that reality consists 

of objects and events as they are perceived or understood in human consciousness; thus 

the evidence unearthed by archaeologists will be allowed to speak for itself. This will 

help avoid twisting the evidence to suit any pre-conceived theories. 

 

This thesis allows a modest role for philology, for upon occasion this discipline can offer 

a valuable contribution. When appropriate, the text will incorporate explanations and 

insights from this field, primarily the inclusion of word origins, names, and usage of 

terms throughout the area of study to indicate the genesis and dispersion of common 

terms and concepts. Texts will be taken largely at face value; some of the trendier 

philological methodologies of the day (canonical criticism, rhetorical criticism, semiotics, 

structuralist and post-structuralist paradigms, etc), will not be employed. 

 

This thesis, in essence, is an exposition of intellectual history; it is not, per se, a work of 

theology, archaeology, mythology, or philology. Nevertheless, the invaluable 

augmentations offered by each of these disciplines will be incorporated into this 

undertaking in an attempt to create a synthesised, better history of an idea. That idea is 

the supposition that the principle of sacred space, with all its attendant manifestations, 

constituted the underlying essence of the temple in the ancient Near East and was 

inherent in temple mythology, expressed in temple architecture, and portrayed in temple 

ritual. 
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1.5 THESIS OUTLINE  

 

Chapter Two introduces the doctrine of sacred space, which is the most critical 

characteristic of ancient temples and lies at the very heart of temple symbolism and 

mythology; it is an ubiquitous concept in temple theology throughout the entire ancient 

Near East. The idea of sacred space represents the most valuable key in discerning the 

underlying ideology of the temple in the ancient world. This chapter will begin with an 

overview of the concept of sacred space and its application to the temple, including the 

etymology of the word temple itself. The concept of holiness in general and sacred space 

and time in particular will be defined. Further attention will be devoted to the concept of 

the temple as the centre place, and the idea of gradations in sacred space will be 

considered. Finally, the paradigm of natural sacred space vis-à-vis socially constructed 

sacred space will be examined, along with the architectural strategies that can be used to 

fabricate sacred space. 

 

Chapter Three is dedicated to a discussion of the equivalence of temples and mountains, a 

theme so widely known and acknowledged that it can be accepted almost without 

question. When possible, temples were built on high mountains; in flat terrain, as in 

lower Mesopotamia, they were constructed on elevated platforms or ziggurats designed to 

resemble mountains. The relationship between temples and mountains runs through all 

ancient sacred literature, including the Bible. Temples as mountains bring us into intimate 

contact with ancient yet widespread notions such as the cosmic mountain, the primordial 

mound, and the navel of the earth; on the mountain are found the Tree of Life and the 

Waters of Life. Finally, the sacred mountain Zaphon in Canaan, the mountain home of 

Baal, and Mount Sinai, the mountain home of Yahweh, and the subsequent transmutation 

of its underlying mythology to Mount Zion, will be briefly discussed. 

 

Chapter Four is dedicated to a brief examination of some of the other facets of the 

underlying concept of sacred space. Sacred space is not a monolithic principle; rather, it 

is a central concept that radiates in its various manifestations in all directions. These 
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while at Zion the vision is always forward, even to the end of the world; unlike Zion, 

Sinai has no role in apocalyptic or eschatological literature. 

 

It is fortunate that in addition to the Biblical accounts, there is another corpus of religious 

literature dealing with a sacred mountain, and one that is near the Biblical record in both 

space and time. The Ras Shamra tablets provide an account, written in a West Semitic 

tongue remarkably similar to Hebrew, of Mount Zaphon and Mount Hamon. There are 

striking similarities between Yahweh on his mountain and Baal and El on their 

mountains. While Yahweh and El dwell in tents, all three have feasts, issue decrees, 

preside or participate in the assembly of the gods, and proclaim their kingship against the 

dramatic backdrop of earthquakes and raging storms. 

 

Yet there are significant differences. There is extreme polytheism on the Canaanite side 

and equally extreme monotheism on the Israelite side. The typical polytheistic world of 

the ancient Near East regarded unusual phenomena as the conflicts and resolutions of 

various deities interacting with one another, each of whom needed to be identified, 

placated, and mollified. Against this was the Israelite phenomenon of the One God who 

interacted with men and intervened in earthly history.106 Moreover, there are essential 

differences in the stories themselves, for in the Baal Cycle all of the action involved 

conflicts, struggles, and negotiations among the gods assembled on the mountain; any 

poor mortals who might get caught in the fallout were really incidental to the main story. 

On the other hand, among the Israelites there were no competing gods, for there was only 

One, and the emphasis was entirely upon human events and interactions with Yahweh 

(Cliff ord 1984:108-124, but see esp 108-110). 

 

 
 
 

                                                 
106 The temple is the locus for the intervention of Yahweh in human history, for it is the place designated 
for the cosmic deity to rule and judge righteously. The Hebrew Bible is replete with scenes and images of 
Yahweh going forth in battle to bless and protect his people and bring recompense to his enemies, whether 
they be foreigners or those of his own people who have adopted apostate practices (Is 66:6; Ezk 9:4-5; Jl 
4:16; Am 1:2; Mi 1:2). The temple is the site from which all present distress is overturned and relieved 
(Middlemas 2005:180-181). 
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CHAPTER 5 
 

MESOPOTAMIAN TEMPLE ARCHITECTURE  
 
 
Abstract 

 

There is evidence of experimentation and variation in early Mesopotamian temples, as 

though the temple was an evolving structure that had not yet found its true expression. 

These variations included room arrangement and the placement of doors. A final pattern 

emerged about the end of the third millennium which was perpetuated for the next two 

thousand years with relatively minor adjustments. The classic Mesopotamian temple 

eventually developed into a pair of temples, one at the top of a ziggurat and one at the 

base. The entire temple complex was surrounded by at least one enclosure wall, whose 

gates and entryways frequently resembled those of military installations. 

 

5.1 INTRODUCTION  

 

Early religious shrines in Mesopotamia consisted of fenced-off enclosures containing 

reed structures that housed an image of a deity. Later, the advent of mud brick as a 

building material enabled monumental temple architecture.  

 

Mesopotamian temples were typically built on mounds of clean earth with foundations of 

ritually pure sand. They were rectangular and symmetrical, often possessed a second 

story, and featured whitewashed exteriors. The floor plans tended to be linear and 

progressive, with the objective being the innermost sanctum. Auxiliary structures for 

administration, housing, and operational needs began to be constructed around the central 

courtyards. 

 

Temples were visually prominent, as they were normally built on raised platforms, yet 

they were equally salient in their urban setting due to their significant role in economic, 
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The archaeological record provides valuable clues to the essential character of the temple 

in Mesopotamia. This chapter will describe the physical qualities of various temples that 

represent significant historical eras and exemplify certain noteworthy architectural 

features, some of which are exclusive to temples. The time span ranges from the early 

Ubaid Period, ca 4900178, through the late Babylonian Period, ca 600. Following this 

descriptive section, the findings will be briefly analysed and it will be demonstrated how 

architectural features were used to embody the concepts that revolve around sacred space. 

The most significant features will resurface in Chapter Ten where they will be analysed 

in greater depth. 

 

5.2 DESCRIPTION OF REPRESENTATIVE TEMPLES IN MESOPOTAMIA  

 

5.2.1 The Ubaid period (ca 5300-3500) 

 

The Ubaid period began with settlement limited to the extreme south of Iraq on the 

shores of the Persian Gulf. Over time a fairly comprehensive canal system and a 

sophisticated irrigation network were developed, urbanisation began to expand into 

northern Mesopotamia,179 and trade and commerce networks stretching from the 

Mediterranean in the west to Dilmun (Bahrein) and Oman in the east were established 

(Knapp 1988:43-46; Roux 1992:59-65, 67-68). Temples, particularly in lower 

Mesopotamia, developed concurrently with the urbanisation and political development 

that arose from earlier agrarian communities based upon clans (Roaf 1995:425; 

Robertson 1995:448). Representative of the Ubaid period are temple ruins from Eridu 

                                                 
178 All dates in this thesis, unless other wise specified, are BCE. The dates of various periods in ancient 
Mesopotamia vary from one historian to another. Furthermore, different historians may use different terms 
for the same time periods. The dates used in this chapter represent general time frames only and should be 
considered approximate.  
179 At Tepe Gawra in northern Mesopotamia, at a time roughly contemporary with the earliest levels at 
Warka, the first important manifestation of monumental religious architecture appeared (for diagram, see 
Davies & Jokiniemi 2008:560-561). In Level XIII were found three contiguous temples: the Northern 
Temple, the Central Temple, and the Eastern Shrine, together forming a group unique at that early date 
(Frankfort 1954:18-20). Bricks of a special size were used for these three temples. 
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(b) Eanna. Fifty meters east of the White temple stood the outer walls of the Eanna 

Precinct, a large area of courtyards that surrounded a remarkable array of buildings 

dedicated to the Sumerian goddess Inanna, known to the early Semites as Ishtar, the 

Great Mother (Frankfort 1954:22).192 These buildings (for diagrams, see Davies & 

Jokiniemi 2008:560-561) date from the latter part of the fourth millennium and were 

repeatedly renovated and rebuilt. Each temple was built of mud brick atop the same site 

as the previous one, which caused considerable difficulty in modern excavation. In the 

end, archaeologists were left with remnants of half a dozen temples that overlapped each 

other, with the remnants of some walls only a few inches high.  

 

A major architectural feature of interest at Eanna was the use of the cone-mosaic façade. 

In this technique the surfaces of columns and side walls were decorated with terra cotta 

stones that were thrust into a clay bed, thus forming geometrical patterns with their 

coloured ends (Badawy 1966a:98; Frankfort 1954:24-25; Van Buren 1946:323-345). 

Cone-mosaic decorations were used, although sparingly, on various temples excavated at 

Eanna. One temple of interest was the so-called Stone Cone Mosaic temple built on an 

isolated site west of the main Eanna Precinct complex (Boehmer 1997:294). Its outer wall 

featured buttresses and its interior walls were decorated in the cone mosaic fashion, 

except coloured stones were used instead of terra cotta pieces. It is thought that the 

coloured stone model may have been the original form of this decorative technique and 

that terra cotta was used later as it was much more economical (Lloyd 1978:50-52).  

 

Another striking structure at Eanna was the so-called Pillar Temple, which stood on a 

terrace or platform and included two rows of massive columns 2.6 meters in diameter. 

The columns were constructed in a primitive fashion with bricks laid in a radial fashion 

to form an approximate circle, suggesting a hesitant and possibly experimental approach 

to an innovative building technique. Cone mosaics in the columns convey the image of 

palm trunks, the palm tree being a common ornamental motif in ancient Near Eastern 

temples. 

                                                 
192 One noteworthy early temple was the Limestone Temple (ca 3600), whose foundation was constructed 
of limestone quarried some 50 miles west of Uruk at the edge of the Arabian shelf (Boehmer 1997:294). 













 123 

millennium exhibited a remarkable degree of diversity and innovation. 

 

Khafaje provides an excellent example of a temple in a heavily-settled urban 

environment, bounded on all sides by residential areas, that evolved into a temple 

complex with a well-contained central courtyard and with impressive stairways leading 

up to a monumental entrance flanked by towers. 

 

5.2.3.2 Tell Asmar. This site was the capital of the state of Eshnunna in the Diyala Valley 

fifty miles northeast of Baghdad. Its temple, like the Sin temple at Khafaje, began with a 

small and rather shapeless chapel whose origins perhaps went back to the Jemdet Nasr 

era, although later rebuildings occurred in the Early Dynastic Period. At Tell Asmar three 

main sequences of temples span the Early Dynastic period. The first temple, dedicated to 

the local god Abu, appeared during the late fourth millennium. This temple was then 

rebuilt as the Archaic Shrine (Early Dynastic I), then the Square Temple, with three 

separate shrines arranged around a central room (Early Dynastic II) (Auerbach 1997:262; 

Lloyd 1978:97), and finally the Single Shrine (Early Dynastic III). Later versions of the 

temple exhibited a conventional form with a rectangular sanctuary and a row of lateral 

chambers (for diagrams of earlier and later versions at Tell Asmar, see Davies & 

Jokiniemi 2008:560-561). 

 

Tell Asmar, like Khafaje, may have originated in Jemdet Nasr or Early Dynastic times 

but did not reach full fruition until the Sumerian revival at the end of the third millennium 

when a new temple was built and dedicated to Shu-Sin, the deified king of Ur. This 

temple was unique among all other Mesopotamian temples in that the object of worship 

was actually a living ruler at the time (Auerbach 1997:264-265). This temple was square, 

located in a square courtyard, with rooms arranged around it. The temple was a 

comparatively small structure, for Eshnunna was a provincial city whereas Ur was the 

capital of the land and the seat of the dynasty. Its exterior was adorned with buttresses 

and its entrance was flanked by two towers decorated with stepped recesses. The entrance 

gate led to a lobby with stairs on the right side that led to the roof. Past the lobby was a 

square courtyard with the cella at the far end. The cella contained the deity standing 
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(Budge 2005:53). 

 

A number of other, smaller temples have been excavated at Babylon. They all conformed 

to the basic tripartite form of entry, courtyard, and sanctuary all on the same axis, though 

they offered some variation in the placement of subsidiary chambers.  

 
5.3 ANALYSIS OF DESCRIPTIONS 
 
 
5.3.1 Architectural features of Mesopotamian temples 

 

In the Ubaid and Uruk eras there was a wide variety in the size and layout of temples. 

Small wayside chapels consisted of little more than a courtyard with a statue of a god and 

an altar. The earliest temples, such as Eridu Level XVI (ca 4900), were single-room 

affairs, albeit they already had offering tables and a statue of the deity standing in a niche. 

Within a few hundred years (Eridu Level IX, ca 4100), marked differences appeared as 

temples now began to feature buttresses to support and give variety to the mud brick 

exterior walls and support thin interior load-bearing walls. Furthermore, the main 

sanctuary began to be surrounded by lateral rooms used for ancillary purposes. By the 

time of Eridu Level VII (ca 3800), more innovations appeared: rabbets and niches in the 

exterior walls, a tripartite floor plan, and the practice of building temples upon elevated 

platforms.221 Thus by the Early Dynastic Period, Mesopotamian temples had largely 

acquired the forms that would persist, with only minor innovations, for the next three 

millennia (Falkenstein 1974:5).  

 

Mud brick remained the building material of choice, probably due to the lack of readily-

available lumber and stone. Efforts were made to beautify the monotonous character of 

                                                 
221 Parrot believed that the elevated platform was the forerunner of the ziggurat and cited as evidence 
excavations at Uruk, Khafaje, Ubeid, Tell Uqair, and Eridu. This thesis is entirely plausible. Others have 
suggested more utilitarian purposes of the elevated platform: (1) to protect the temple from the recurrent 
floods of the Tigris and Euphrates; (2) to facilitate the use of the temple as an astronomical observatory; (3) 
to allow the god (and the resident priests) to escape the searing summer heat at ground level and to enjoy 
the relatively cool breeze in the higher atmosphere; (4) to similarly allow the temple and its occupants to 
escape the plague of mosquitoes that afflicted the lower air; and (5) to remind the Sumerians of the hilly 
countryside from which they may have migrated on their way to Mesopotamia (Leacroft 1974:7; Parrot 
1955a:41-42, 58; Wasilewska 2009:403). 
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complex, while in Assyria the towers were placed nearer the sanctuary. At times the 

sanctuary itself extended into the tower structure, causing the niche containing the god to 

actually be located within the base of the tower. The purpose of these towers remains 

unknown (Oppenheim 1977:327-328). 

 

The main entranceway was flanked by pillars or towers. It was structured to block other 

courtyards and buildings from direct view. Access to smaller courtyards was usually at 

right angles, so one could not see directly into the next courtyard from the previous one.  

 

Inside the main entrance was a large courtyard (kisalmahhu), which was itself 

encompassed within a multitude of small rooms used for administration, archives, 

storage, lodgings, libraries, schools, kitchens, bakeries, and other purposes. During the 

great feasts and festivals the resident statues were occasionally relocated to the main 

courtyard. On ordinary days the courtyard most likely resembled a mixture of market-

place and cloister, filled with pilgrims, merchants, temple personnel, and animals 

destined for sacrifice. Beyond the kisalmahhu was another, smaller courtyard, with an 

altar in the middle. Even further on was the temple proper (ashirtu) where only certain 

priests were admitted. 

 

Larger and more developed temple complexes might include additional elements such as 

the presence of a well or large basins of water, a large altar, cloisters, one or more 

antecellae,223 and more elaborate entryways including guard stations, lateral chambers on 

either side of the cella and antecella, and a concealed stairway leading to the roof of the 

temple. Such architectural accessories were limited only by the size and configuration of 

the adjoining land,224 royal largesse, and a local population large enough to absorb the 

                                                 
223 The courtyard(s) were not part of the temple proper, for the temple existed independently of them. 
However, they were a necessary adjunct area where certain activities could take place. Courtyards 
represented zones of intermediate and transitional sacred space. 
224 Additions and renovations were often made to large temples over the course of years, and thus they were 
frequently a hodgepodge of design. Smaller temples, built in their entirety at commencement, generally 
achieved a more unified pattern in their architectural design (Oppenheim 1977:326-327). The Sin Temple 
at Khafaje is an excellent example of a temple that started out small and simple and grew to be large and 
complex, due to its location in an urban environment, surrounded by other buildings and residential areas 
that forced it to adapt the size and shape of accessory areas. The same basic plan exhibited by the Sin 
temple was different in locations where the temple had more room for expansion, although the intrinsic 
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expense of the construction, maintenance, and operation of a large temple. Inside the 

walls, temple complexes were known to contain groves of trees that were considered 

sacred.  

 

An open-air area was necessary for the altar225 upon which animals could be sacrificed; in 

areas where there were a number of temples, a single sacrificial courtyard might serve the 

needs of all, as seems to have been the case, for example, at the Red Mound (massif 

rouge) at Mari (Margueron 1997:166). Nevertheless, the sacrificial courtyards possessed 

a sacred character as demonstrated by their inclusion within the outer enclosure wall. 

 

The ashirtu, or temple proper, had an exterior wall featuring buttresses, rabbets and 

niches to give beauty and variety to a surface of mud brick, hardly an aesthetic or 

decorative medium. These exterior accents are exclusive to temples throughout 

Mesopotamia. Interior walls also had façades decorated with niches and recesses. Interior 

columns were not common in Mesopotamian temples, unlike their Egyptian or Greek 

counterparts, although they first appeared at an early date (Tell Uqair, ca 3000). When 

columns were used they were frequently carved to represent, among other things, palm 

trees (Roaf 1995:426-427). 

 

The ashirtu was typically divided into three rooms arranged along a central axis: the 

vestibule, the antecella, and the cella (holy of holies). 

 

The vestibule was the preliminary area where the transition from the less sacred space of 

the courtyards to the more sacred space of the temple began. This transition was 

frequently marked by ablutions or some other ritual designed to impress upon the visitor 

                                                                                                                                                 
elements remained the same. Temples that were built in areas with open space tended to develop in a more 
symmetrical fashion (such as Tell Asmar, which was arranged around a central courtyard that allowed the 
addition of two minor sanctuaries at a later date). Perhaps the best example of a large temple with unlimited 
space to expand was the Shara Temple at Tell Agrab. Its massive exterior walls encompassed a number of 
self-contained units, each with their own chambers positioned around a central courtyard, and rather lavish 
accommodations for the priestly cadre (Lloyd 1978:120). 
225 The most significant physical indicator of temple ritual was the structure of the altar which customarily 
featured a drainage system leading into a concealed pottery jar, presumably to entrap the blood of 
sacrificial victims or to catch water or oil used in ablutions. Both kinds of activities were pictured on 
cylinder seals (Lloyd 1978:119-120). 
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A portion of Cylinder A from Gudea of Lagash describes the kishkanu, a tree whose 

species is unknown, whose roots were in the apsu and whose top was raised over the 

lands of the earth (Wyatt 2001:160). Assyrian reliefs depicted the king performing a 

ritual act around a tree, possibly having to do with the pollination of the flowers (Wyatt 

2001:160), though others have disputed this interpretation. Ringgren (1973:77-79) 

claimed that the king practised some kind of fertility rite in the grove. 

 

Temple/palace symbiosis was demonstrated in Mesopotamia by shared courtyards and 

entrances, the use of temple facilities and functions to perform services necessary for the 

state, and the building of temples to acquire political legitimacy. 

 

Perhaps the best example of a temple and palace in close proximity, with shared facilities, 

was Tell Asmar, where the Shu-Sin temple stood adjacent to the palace of the local 

governor. Even though the palace had its own private chapel which resembled the 

adjacent temple, the king nevertheless had direct and private access to the temple also. 

The direct palace-temple link had guard stations at both ends, for on the one end, limited 

entrance to the temple precinct had to be enforced, and on the other end, it was thought 

desirable to prevent unauthorised incursions into the palace via the temple. 

 

Some rooms and areas typically found in temple complexes, such as kitchens, living 

areas, and administrative buildings, were not directly related to sacred space; they were 

merely subsidiary areas necessary for administration, daily operations, and maintenance. 

However, certain auxiliary rooms found in temples, such as schools, libraries, and 

observatories do relate directly to sacred space even though their functions may appear to 

be quite secular. Schools were developed for the training of priests and scribes. 

Observatories were established to mark the passage of the seasons and the years and to 

demarcate the times for the feasts and festivals that centred around the temple. The 

temple was a repository for mundane economic records such as ordinary business 

transactions, land grants, and taxation receipts; the temple also served as a repository for 

sacred records such as holy books and texts, mathematical and astronomical treatises, and 
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5.4  CONCLUSIONS 

 

Ancient Mesopotamian temples applied a large number of architectural techniques to 

create sacred space and to demarcate the sacred from the profane. One method used by 

temple architects was the development of a series of areas of graded sanctity. A way 

could not be conceived in which a person could move from profane to sacred space in 

one step; the boundary would be too strict, too sudden, too severe; the shock of moving 

from totally profane to totally sacred space in one step would be too great. It would be 

comparable to emerging from a totally darkened environment to face the blazing light of 

the noonday sun without time or opportunity to adjust. Consequently, architectural plans 

were devised wherein one could go through a series of graded sacred space, each area 

more sacred than the former, and thereby effect a safe transition from the outside profane 

world to the sacred innermost cella of the temple, where one was figuratively ushered 

into the presence of the god. These steps increased the sense of awe and magnified the 

mysterium tremendum. 

 

Temples were built on a foundation of clean sand as an emblem of the primordial mound. 

Foundation deposits demarcated sacred space and protected the temple area from the 

incursion of evil forces. Enclosure walls fulfilled much the same purpose; in addition, 

they helped restrict access to authorised personnel only. Furthermore, high enclosure 

walls aided in preserving secrecy regarding the temple environment and the nature of its 

rituals. Temples were measured carefully in accordance with plans revealed from heaven, 

as they were extensions of the heavenly temple. They were aligned with the cardinal 

directions, the Polar Star, or other heavenly bodies to suggest their cosmic nature. Temple 

architects pursued a variety of techniques in both interior and exterior decoration, 

including wall colouring, niches and rabbets, mosaics, and other creative methods of 

adornment to alleviate the anaesthetic surface of uninterrupted mud brick. 

The tripartite floor plan was instituted to provide areas of graded sacred space. The 

institution of the ziggurat, which could be seen from far distances, enhanced the prestige 

of the temple. Pillars and temple towers created a sense of awe in visitors; perhaps they 

also served other purposes of which we remain unaware. Temples frequently contained 
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sacred groves; a tree in the centre was designated the Tree of Life, thus symbolising the 

presence of the temple on the axis mundi. Temples and palaces developed close 

relationships; temples performed many functions that pertained to the state, and kings 

used temples to acquire or increase their legitimacy. 

 

Inside the main cella, the statue of the god was elevated higher and higher to further 

separate it from other areas. Water for ablutions and for use in animal sacrifices was 

available in temple courtyards. There is limited evidence in Mesopotamia that temples 

were used as tombs. Altars and animal sacrifice, which are of the essence of sacred space, 

were featured in temple rituals. 
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sort of standard layout by the time of Khafre (Fourth Dynasty; for diagrams, see Davies 

& Jokiniemi 2008:570-571). Typically they contained two structures that may be referred 

to as temples in addition to a number of other buildings that were probably minor chapels 

or administrative areas. Burial was normally within or beneath a pyramid with a mortuary 

temple located on the east side of the pyramid. At the mortuary temple sacrifices were 

offered and other rituals were performed for the eternal welfare of the deceased pharaoh. 

The mortuary temple was connected by a causeway to another temple known as a valley 

temple (Winlock 1914:12), consisting of a number of sanctuaries, located on the valley 

floor nearer the river.238 Thus the entire pyramid complex could be conveniently accessed 

from the Nile (or a canal) through the valley temple and the causeway leading to the 

mortuary temple. Beyond the mortuary temple, on the same axis, were subsidiary 

buildings, granaries, magazines, and porticoed reception halls. Residences near the 

temple were relatively few in number and were used only by workers currently serving in 

their rotation.239 

 

The earliest pyramid complexes240 were built on a north-south axis, paralleling the Nile, 

though after the Fourth Dynasty they began to be oriented on an east-west axis. They 

featured an entrance hall and a broad columned court leading to the rear area of the 

temple. Here were shrines or niches for the statue of the king as well as storage chambers 

and other auxiliary rooms.241  

 

Cult temple building in the Old Kingdom remained modest in both scope and materials, 

especially when compared with royal funerary complexes (Shafer 1997b:4).242 Royal 

                                                 
238 Badawy (1966a:43) sees here an alternative manifestation of the tripartite temple plan: mortuary temple, 
causeway, and valley temple. 
239 See Badawy (1990:89-114) for a full description of the development of the mortuary temple, with 
specific data on the temples at Zawyet el Arian, Dahshur, Meydum, Giza (Cheops, Chephren, Mykerinos), 
Saqqara (Shepseskaf, Userkaf, Unas, Pepi II Neferkare), and Abusir (Sahure, Neferirkare, Neuserre), 
including their attendant offering chapels and funerary cult temples. 
240 Every pyramid was supposed to have had a temple complex attached to it, but many disappeared over 
the years due to denudation and dilapidation (Badawy 1990:68). 
241 Old and Middle Kingdom temples frequently were integrated structures that included the temple itself, 
storage facilities, administrative areas, ancillary structures, and residential areas for temple workers (Kemp 
1989:157; Wilkinson 2000:20). 
242 Exceptions include the cult temples of the royal cities of Memphis and Heliopolis, which were rather 
grand affairs. 
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1989:66-69). The complex was situated within an outer enclosure wall constructed of 

mud brick. 

 

The deity worshipped at Medamud and the exact nature of the cult245 practised there are 

largely unknown, though it is evident that this temple was built around the presence of 

the two mounds. These may have been regarded as architectural symbols of the 

primordial mound, that spot of earth that was the first to emerge from the waters of 

creation and which were considered to be the foundation of all Egyptian temples 

(Wilkinson 2000:22). 

 

The temple at Medamud was rebuilt in the Middle Kingdom by Senusret III (1878-1839) 

using brick with columns and gateways of limestone. This version included a wall five 

and one-half meters thick that enclosed the cult building, statue pillars of the king, 

magazines, residential quarters for the priests, and granaries.  

 

In the New Kingdom, Thutmosis III (1479-1425) erected a new temple on the site of the 

original western mound (Arnold 2003:142-143). The New Kingdom temple was heavily 

built up on the northern side of the enclosure area, unfortunately destroying most of the 

brickwork from the earlier shrine. The later temple was subsequently destroyed also, 

most of its stone looted and carried away for use on other projects. Nevertheless, 

excavators have been able to reproduce a general idea of the floor plan of this temple, 

though much of this is subject to interpretation. The southern portion of the temple 

complex consisted primarily of rooms used for storage and for residences for the priests 

and other members of the temple community. The temple featured a triple-portal entry 

which led to a large courtyard, which in turn led to a conventional hypostyle (columned) 

hall. To the rear of the main temple was a small sanctuary, the holiest area of the temple 

(Wilkinson 2000:153). There was a sacred lake off the northwest corner of the complex 

measuring approximately 15 x 17 meters (Wilkinson 2000:73). The exterior of the temple 

at Medamud is believed to have had a fortress-like quality, perhaps inspired by Nubian 

                                                 
245 There is no definite information on the specific function of the early temple at Medamud, but it is 
generally considered to be an Osireion of the Old Kingdom. Despite its early date, it displays sophisticated 
architecture (Badawy 1990:115; Goedicke 1979:114). 
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forts further upriver (Kemp 1989:166-178).  

 

Later, in the Ptolemaic era, a large courtyard was added with a double altar and double 

rows of columns. An avenue of sphinxes (for diagrams of various sphinxes, see Davies & 

Jokiniemi 2008:578-579) lined a processional route from the main gate to a platform on 

which stood twin obelisks. A sacred lake now occupied the southwest corner of the 

complex. A new outer enclosure wall, also of stone, surrounded the entire complex 

(Arnold 1999:162, 164, 194-195; 2003:142-143). 

 

6.2.3.2 Elephantine. Seven hundred kilometres upriver from Cairo is the island of 

Elephantine near modern Aswan (Syene in Ezk 29:10) at the first cataract of the Nile. A 

fortunate circumstance of history affords a rare look at an early temple at Elephantine, for 

an early temple site destined for rebuilding was simply covered up and then paved over, 

leaving the original site in a fairly pristine condition for later archaeological excavation. 

 

The site of what was perhaps the first shrine at Elephantine was set in a niche among 

large boulders. It was the presence of these boulders that discouraged later builders; it 

was easier to fill up the area and build over it than to try and remove them. There is no 

carvings on these boulders such as are found, for instance, at Yazilikaya in Hittite 

territory, nor is it certain which deity was worshipped here, though it was most likely 

Satis (Arnold 2003:81; Baines 1995: 306).246 At any rate the object of veneration was 

evidently protected by two small mud brick rooms constructed between the boulders, 

creating either a courtyard or a roofed area. The structure dates from the Early Dynastic 

period though pottery from the Predynastic era was found in the area (Kemp 1989:69). 

 

The shrine retained its basic form throughout the Old Kingdom and into the First 

Intermediate Period. The temple at Elephantine was oriented not toward the sun but 

toward Sirius, whose rising announced the annual flooding of the Nile (Grimal 1992:51-

52; Wilkinson 2000:37). During its existence, which spanned six centuries, the small 

                                                 
246 By the time of the Eleventh Dynasty the three principal deities at Elephantine (Khnum, his consort Satis, 
and Anuket [Greek Anukis, goddess of the Nile]) are well attested (Wilkinson 2000:212). 
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Texts on the walls depicted captions and summaries of the speeches given during various 

rituals. Statues of various gods, used in daily temple rituals, were kept in special shrines 

within the sanctuary or in hidden spaces behind false doors (Baines 1995:309-313). 

 

Egyptian temples were built according to the progressional style along an axis that ran 

from the main entrance to the sanctuary. As one progressed through the temple, bright 

light slowly turned to shadow, and the main sanctuary stood in nearly total darkness.  

 

Temples were normally rebuilt on the same location as the previous one. New Kingdom 

temples were built on surprisingly insubstantial foundations, while later Ptolemaic 

temples demonstrated remarkably advanced construction methods. The stone used in 

Egyptian temples was primarily limestone, common in the Nile Valley. Later sandstone 

was also used. The basic method of construction was successive layers of masonry laid 

on extremely thin layers of mortar, with the internal joints secured by wooden dovetail 

clamps. When the mortar set, the clamps were removed and the space filled with mortar. 

An exception was at Amarna, where Akhenaten used uniform blocks with generous 

mortar. Wall surfaces were jagged and irregular at initial construction; they were only 

smoothed and dressed and prepared for painting or carving after the construction was 

finished (Baines 1995:311). 

 

Temple complexes were frequently linked with others, thus allowing the various resident 

deities to travel and visit one another. The great temple of Amon-Re at Karnak was 

linked on a north-south axis to the smaller temple at Luxor and on an east-west axis with 

various temples on the west bank. The Ptolemaic temple at Philae, at the first cataract, 

was associated with the temple of Horus at Edfu, about 120 miles north. Temples were 

frequently linked to palaces as well.286 

 

 

 

                                                 
286 The mortuary complex of Ramesses II  (the Ramesseum) and the temple of Ramesses III at Medinat 
Habu were linked with small palaces within the outer enclosure walls (Baines 1995:309). 
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6.3.3 Egyptian temples and sacred space 

 

Earlier in this chapter a significant number of architectural features incident to Egyptian 

temples were identified. These will now be organised and their relation to the concept of 

sacred space will be determined. These architectural characteristics have been divided 

into three broad categories: (1) Techniques of Construction and Decoration; (2) General 

Temple Arrangement; and (3) Arrangement of Cultic Areas and Ritual Paraphernalia. 

 

6.3.3.1 Techniques of Construction and Decoration. In this category are included (1) the 

concept of the primordial mound; (2) the practice of foundation deposits; (3) the purposes 

and functions of enclosure walls; (4) principles of orientation, alignment, and 

measurement; and (5) exterior and interior decoration. 

 

One architectural feature noted in regard to Mesopotamian temples, namely, the practice 

of building a temple on a base of ritually pure sand that represented the primordial 

mound, was everywhere present in Egypt, for example, Medamud (Wilkinson 2000:22), 

Hierakonpolis (Fairservis 1971-1972:14-20; Wilkinson 2000:76), Heliopolis (Baines 

1995:307), Coptos (Kemp 1989:79-80), Karnak, Edfu (Maurizio Re 2006:154), and 

elsewhere. Each Egyptian temple was considered to have been constructed atop the 

primordial mound (Reymond 1969:46, 47, 59, 185, 261, 266, 305, 327; Frankfort 

1978:151-154). This is merely one feature of the cosmogonic myth in ancient Egypt, 

namely, that every temple claimed to be built on the ben-stone, which was the first dry 

land to appear from the primordial ocean (Nun), and was comparable in its symbolism to 

sacred mountains and omphaloi found in other traditions. Egyptian temples were thus 

considered to represent the centre of the world and thus the centre of absolute reality. 

 

Perhaps the primordial mound was natural to the Egyptians, for their land was subsumed 

annually under the flood of the Nile, and as the waters subsided they did not fail to note 

the appearance of the dry land once again. Be that as it may, there is no doubt that in 

ancient Egypt virtually all temples were perceived as having originated on the primordial 

mound that first emerged from Nun, and every temple in Egypt claimed to be the original 



 186 

place of the creation of the Earth. Many temples were indeed built on or adjacent to real 

mounds (Medamud, 6.2.3.1). The primordial mound was most sacred. Furthermore, the 

Egyptian custom of raising the floor level of the temple as one approached the most 

sacred area in the rear was meant to symbolise the presence of the sacred mound (Grimal 

1992:265). As the primordial mound was the first dry land to appear from the waters of 

darkness and chaos, it also held the key to maintaining control over these unruly waters, 

forever at enmity with the forces of light and order. 

 

Foundation deposits, common in Egypt, were important as a symbolic marking off of the 

area of the temple as sacred space and protecting it from the incursion of evil forces 

(Grimal 1992:168-169). Foundation deposits at Hierakonpolis were described by 

Weinstein (1971-1972:133-135) and at Thebes by Winlock (1922:28-30). 

 

Egyptian temples had outer enclosure walls which served four primary purposes: (1) to 

provide physical protection from invaders; (2) to protect the secrecy of the temple rituals 

performed within; (3) to clearly demarcate sacred space from the outer profane space; 

and (4) to keep the chaotic waters of creation (Nun) from encroaching upon the sacred 

temple precincts. Some walls were actually built in an alternating concave and convex 

pattern in order to represent the waves of the primeval ocean held at bay by the sanctity 

of the temple area; examples are found at Mazghuna (Wilkinson 2000:56-57, 133) and 

Karnak (Grimal 1992:306-307). Walls of this fashion have been found only around 

temples or areas controlled by temples, giving the impression of the temple as conqueror 

over the waters and as fortresses that the waters could not overcome. The functions of the 

enclosure walls surrounding Egyptian temples (typically there was a mud brick outer 

enclosure wall with one or more stone walls within) were enhanced by towers at regular 

intervals and gateways. 

 

Temple alignment in Egypt was related to its role as a cosmic symbol. Temple alignment 

in ancient Egypt reaches back at least to Nabta Playa, between 6000 and 6500 years ago 

(Wilkinson 2000:16). Some temples were aligned on a north-south axis, parallel to the 

Nile, and some were aligned on an east-west axis, perpendicular to the Nile, representing 
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Ankh (Wilkinson 2000:74). 

 

6.3.3.3 Arrangement of Cultic Areas and Ritual Paraphernalia. This category includes 

features such as (1) elevated statues for the deity, (2) water for ablutions, (3) cult of the 

dead, and (4) altars and animal sacrifices.  

 

In Egypt the earliest cultic item was a simple pole topped by a fetish, around which the 

earliest sanctuaries are believed to have developed. As the more traditional form of the 

Egyptian temple evolved, the rear of the temple, the most sacred area, was the site 

reserved for the statue of the god, with niches and adjacent areas containing statues of 

lesser deities and kings. There may have been a small pedestal upon which the statue was 

placed, but instead of an elevated platform, the entire floor level rose as one approached 

the rear of the temple while the ceiling simultaneously lowered, thus adding to a sense of 

awe and naturally focusing the eye on the god. 

 

Egyptian temples often contained or adjoined a sacred lake (Medamud (6.2.3.1) and 

elsewhere), sometimes considered a replica of the primordial ocean (Nun). There was a 

sacred lake at Hierapolis, which was considered to be a remnant of the subsiding waters 

of the flood, whose waters had drained through a rock or a crevice, representing the 

omphalos or navel of the earth, while still providing water to the temple for ritualistic 

purposes. There can be little doubt that sources of water must have been available for the 

use of both priest and pilgrim for personal cleansing and ablutions. 

 

In the early history of Egypt, sacrifices and other rituals, especially the funerary cult, 

were performed solely in behalf of dead Pharaohs; subsequently they became available to 

other individuals as well. As just one of many examples, the funerary temple at Abydos 

was described by Davies & Jokiniemi (2008:570-571) and Winlock (1914:12). On the 

literary side, pyramid texts evolved into coffin texts, which evolved into hypocephali and 

various other literary documents (the Book of the Dead, the Book of Breathings, and 

more), all designed to aid the departed onward in their journey. 

 



 191 

The architectural and physical features of Egyptian temples do not reveal a great deal of 

information regarding the rituals that were performed in these edifices. Egyptian daily 

temple ritual is largely known from papyri and temple reliefs from Karnak, Abydos, 

Edfu, and elsewhere. While these sources generally date from the New Kingdom and 

later, the temple service itself may have been much older, possibly dating back to the Old 

Kingdom or even to the predynastic era, to the earliest beginnings of Egyptian religion. 

Elements of Egyptian temple ritual can be found in other ancient rites as well as in more 

recent rituals. 

 

Altars were located in temple courtyards, though the exact nature of the sacrificial rites 

performed there are uncertain. Fairman (1954:178, 180-184, 191, 198-202) has provided 

an excellent overview of sacrifice in ancient Egyptian temples; regarding Amarna, see 

Kemp (1989:281). Additional ritual paraphernalia included stone tables upon which 

votive and other offerings were placed. 

 

6.4 CONCLUSIONS 

 

The earliest Egyptian temples were built of reeds, wood, and mud brick; stone was a later 

innovation. Reeds growing along the banks of the Nile presented themselves to builders 

in pre-Dynastic times; they were plentiful, cheap, and reasonably sturdy when bound and 

lashed together. They could also be used to construct a rudimentary shelter, shrine or 

sanctuary in a short amount of time; hence it was believed that the earliest shrines were 

fashioned of reeds, in order to quickly sanctify the land newly arisen from the waters of 

Nun and protect it from being submerged again. Literary evidence attests to the use of 

reeds in the earliest sanctuaries, although they are obviously absent from the 

archaeological record. Wood was available in very limited quantities and was used 

sparingly in early temples. 

 

The use of stone in monumental architecture appeared in the Third Dynasty at Saqqara 

and was used in increasing proportions throughout the remainder of the Old and Middle 

Kingdoms. By the time of the building frenzy of the New Kingdom, stone was the 































 206 

 

Nevertheless, there are a few significant points. It is suggestive that the Hittites not only 

retained but often seemed to favour open-air sanctuaries and outdoor shrines on 

mountains, among boulders and other objects untouched by the hand of the artisan; as a 

generalisation it might be said that the Hittites preferred natural sacred space over 

socially constructed sacred space. Also, due to the local topography, the Hittites could 

use easily accessible mountainous areas and did not need to construct an artificial 

eminence such as a ziggurat. In an urban environment like Boghazköy, temples were 

built upon elevated platforms to increase their visibility and further set them apart from 

surrounding areas. 

 

7.3.2.1 Techniques of Construction and Decoration. In this category are included (1) the 

concept of the primordial mound; (2) the practice of foundation deposits; (3) the purposes 

and functions of enclosure walls; (4) principles of orientation, alignment, and 

measurement; and (5) exterior and interior decoration. 

 

There are no indications, in either the literary or archaeological records, of any 

acknowledgement by the Hittites of the concept of the primordial mound.  

 

Foundation deposits are likewise not found in Hittite temples (Bittel 1976:67).  

 

Enclosure walls, as elsewhere throughout the ancient Near East, surrounded the temples 

in urban locations (Boghazköy); it may be assumed that their purposes here were similar 

to enclosure walls elsewhere (Frankfort 1954:217-218). Enclosure walls were not 

constructed around areas of natural sacred space, as at Yazilikaya or the huwasi stones.  

 

The Hittites did not seem troubled by any issues relating to orientation. Yazilikaya and 

other outdoor areas, naturally, contained few if any built-up areas; no attempt was made 

at alignment with celestial bodies. Temples built in already crowded neighbourhoods 

simply adapted to whatever space was available (Gurney 1952:123). There is no evidence 

indicating any particular concern with following a heavenly model; neither is there any 
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temples possessed exterior enclosure walls that no doubt fulfilled the same functions as 

elsewhere. Decorating techniques, especially at Yazilikaya, were archaic yet quite 

compelling. 

 

Hittite temples utilised multiple courtyards and cellae to create a number of areas of 

graded sacred space. Temple entrances were marked by twin pillars, either alone or on 

the backs of lions and sphinxes. The temple made no pretence of independence from the 

state. 

 

Statues of the god within Hittite temples stood or sat on a throne on an elevated platform 

within the innermost cella. Water for ablutions was available in wells, fountains, or 

containers within the various courtyards. There is limited evidence regarding burial 

practises in temples. It is obvious that animal sacrifice was practised to some degree, but 

both archaeological and literary evidence are scant. 
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CHAPTER 8 
 

CANAANITE TEMPLE ARCHITECTURE  
 

 

Abstract 

 

The temple architecture of the ancient Levant, with rare exceptions, was quite moderate, 

if not austere, compared to the monumental religious architecture in Mesopotamia and 

Egypt. Smaller shrines, sanctuaries, and holy places abounded throughout Canaan. 

Such small edifices have often been difficult to identify as temples according to the 

archaeological record; larger shrines, on the other hand, tended to conform to a 

typology, and are thus easier to recognise.  

 

8.1 INTRODUCTION  

 

Temples were an important institution in Canaanite history, just as they were in 

Mesopotamia, Egypt, Hittite Anatolia, and elsewhere in the ancient Near East. Yet 

Canaanite temples were not unaffected by the relative geography of Canaan and the 

mighty empires that lay to the southwest and the east. Occupying a middle ground 

between Egypt and Mesopotamia, the land of Canaan was an amalgamation of small and 

transient kingdoms that served as a buffer between the centres of the two great empires. 

There never was a single political entity or kingdom, much less an empire, in Canaan; 

instead there were city-states and petty kingdoms such as Mari, Ugarit, Syria, the 

Aramaeans, Phoenicia, Philistia, Israel, Judah, Ammon, Moab, Edom, and others. Due to 

shifting political fortunes and allegiances in Canaan, temples never developed into the 

supranational institutions found in the valleys of the Nile and of the Tigris and Euphrates. 

 

This chapter will describe, in general terms, Canaanite temple and religious architecture 

on a chronological basis, from the Chalcolithic period through the Iron Age. It will be 

demonstrated that the concept of sacred space was the ideological factor that dictated 

significant architectural characteristics. 
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Smaller Canaanite temples often consisted of a single room, while larger structures 

exhibited a bipartite or tripartite arrangement. In the earliest examples (late Chalcolithic 

and Early Bronze Ages), most temples exhibited a simple, one-room rectangular form in 

a broadroom style. This early plan, simple and convenient, later evolved into the 

equivalent of a broadroom cella (or possibly cellae) with a separate entryway. By the 

middle of the second millennium the broadroom pattern gave way to a longroom plan, 

which led in turn to a progressional-style temple with a succession of rooms in a straight-

axis, linear pattern. Some temples featured a façade with twin towers.  

 

The Middle and Late Bronze Ages saw the development of another style, non-

monumental, with an indirect entry and a sacristy located in the rear. The main hall 

featured benches around the wall; this type of temple was quite common throughout the 

eastern Mediterranean basin, including Cyprus and Mycenaean Greece. 

 

In the Iron Age, temple complexes developed in the larger urban areas. Such complexes 

included the temple itself, ancillary structures, and one or more courtyards. All portions 

of the complex were considered sacred space, although there were gradations in sanctity, 

and all portions were included within an outer enclosure, or temenos, wall. 

 

8.2  DESCRIPTION OF REPRESENTATIVE TEMPLES IN CANAAN  

 

8.2.1 The Chalcolithic Age (ca 4500-3500) 

 

The earliest monumental temple in Canaan was the hilltop sanctuary at En-Gedi, west of 

the Dead Sea.308 The sanctuary was located in an isolated area, apart from local 

settlements, suggesting that it may have served as a regional shrine, possibly in 

connection with the popular springs found in the wadi below. The En-Gedi sanctuary was 

actually a complex consisting of four individual structures in a rectangular courtyard 

                                                 
308 There was purported to be a Neolithic (ca 8500-4500) temple at Jericho, a small rectangular mud-brick 
structure that was regarded by Kenyon as a sanctuary. This identification was based on the form of the 
building and is not conclusive (Dever 2003:383; Margueron 1997:165). 
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An EB II temple at Arad characterised the sacred architecture of the era. The temple 

compound contained twin temples, one large and one small, each a broadroom structure 

with benches around the interior walls used either for the placement of votive offerings or 

for the seating of prominent officials, and another structure along with multiple 

courtyards. The doors to the twin temples were on the longer side, and altars along with a 

cult statue stood on the walls opposite the doors. The statues could thus be clearly seen 

from the outer courtyards when the doors were opened. One courtyard contained an 

outdoor altar (or possibly a bamah) and a large basin (possibly a favissa), while another 

courtyard contained a stela (Dever 2003:384). The EB II twin temples at Arad had much 

in common with the EB I twin temples at Megiddo (Aharoni 1968:3; Ilan & Amiran 

1997:172). 

 

At Yarmuth an EB II temple complex has been excavated that included a broadroom 

sanctuary (the White Building), a side altar constructed of plastered masonry (Dever 

2003:383), and a spacious palace complex. The acropolis at Ai featured a monumental 

broadroom temple, a sacred temenos, and a courtyard that dominated the area.315 At 

Khirbet ez-Zeraqun, near the city gate, a cultic complex included temples and an outdoor 

altar. One point all these sites held in common was a temenos enclosure wall that clearly 

demarcated sacred from profane space (Richard 2003b:290).  

 

8.2.2.3 Early Bronze III (ca 2650-2300). An EB III temple at Bab edh-Dhra was built on 

a site directly above a previous sanctuary, differing from it only slightly in orientation. 

There was an innovation in temple architecture in the EB III period characterised by this 

shrine: after entering the main sanctuary through a door on the west, which was a long 

side, a visitor would then have to turn left (toward the north) and proceed up a number of 

steps to a raised area that was the focus of religious activity, presumably a statue of the 

deity (Rast 2003:326). 

 

Also in EB III, the sacred precinct at Megiddo was constructed adjacent to the palace; 

                                                 
315 The palace/temple at Ai alternated as a royal residence and a place of worship at least three times over a 
six hundred year period (Callaway 1976:18-30; Dever 1995:612); the reasons remain unknown. 


































































































































































































































































































































